Regional Roundtable meeting on 'Access to COVID-19 Tools-Accelerator (ACT-A) diagnostics pillar' in the WHO South-East Asia Region

New Delhi, India, 24 August 2021



South-East Asian Region

SEA-WHE-12 Distribution: General

Regional Roundtable meeting on 'Access to COVID-19 Tools-Accelerator (ACT-A) diagnostics pillar' in the WHO South-East Asia Region

New Delhi, India, 24 August 2021



South-East Asian Region

Regional Roundtable meeting on 'Access to COVID-19 Tools-Accelerator (ACT-A) diagnostics pillar' in the WHO South-East Asia Region SEA-WHE-12

© World Health Organization 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation: Regional Roundtable meeting on 'Access to COVID-19 Tools-Accelerator (ACT-A) diagnostics pillar' in the WHO South-East Asia Region, Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Contents

		Page
1.	Opening address	2
2.	Regional survey	2
3.	Country experiences and requests	3
	3.1 Nepal	3
	3.2 India	4
	3.3 Maldives	4
	3.4 Timor-Leste	5
	3.5 Indonesia	5
	3.6 Thailand	5
	3.7 Bhutan	5
4.	Concluding remarks	6
5.	Recommendations for support	6
	Annexes	
1.	Results of the survey; $(n = number of responses)$	7
2.	Agenda	11

3.	List of participants	12

The ongoing pandemic has disrupted livelihoods, economies and health systems globally. During the first six months of 2021, the WHO South-East (SE) Asia Region has experienced widespread transmission of SARS-CoV-2 virus due to the emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants, especially the Delta variant. The new wave of cases emerging from SARS-CoV-2 variants such as Delta has also led to conspicuous setbacks on the road to achieving success with COVID-19 control measures in several Member States of the Region.

Since January 2020, when the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) virus first emerged, the global diagnostic community has adapted itself despite the existing shortcomings and gaps. Dynamic testing strategies continue to be implemented based on the changing landscape of transmission, ongoing relaxation of public health and social measures (PHSM) and high pandemic fatigue.

Prior to the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic the South-East Asia Region had limited molecular testing capacity and genomic sequencing capacity. However, since January 2020 the regional molecular testing capacity has increased from five laboratories capable of testing for SARS-CoV-2 to more than 4600 as of August 2021. New diagnostic tools have rapidly been integrated into national testing strategies with 10 Member States implementing rapid antigen tests and seven countries having in-country capacity to carry out genomic sequencing, while an additional three countries have external access to regional referral laboratories. Access to these diagnostics has led to early identification, prompt isolation and more effective treatment of COVID-19 cases. This has likely led to the improved outcomes for COVID-19 patients and reduced the spread of COVID-19 during the first and second waves.

The regional roundtable meeting was held on 24 August 2021, in collaboration with the ACT-Accelerator partners and WHO, to better understand the challenges countries continued to face to scale up testing required to rapidly interrupt transmission of the Delta and other variants. The ACT-Accelerator is a ground-breaking global collaboration to accelerate the development, production and equitable access to COVID-19 tests, treatments and vaccines.¹ Since April 2020, the Diagnostics pillar of the Access to COVID-19 Tools (ACT) Accelerator has enabled WHO and its ACT-Accelerator partners to identify and deliver more than 92.9 million affordable, high-quality diagnostic tests to low- and low-middle-income countries globally, including in the South-East Asia Region.

The objectives of the roundtable were to identify diagnostic barriers and challenges faced in scaling up and sustaining the COVID-19 diagnostics and laboratory capacity. The information gathered during the roundtable will be used to: (i) raise awareness among ACT-Accelerator stakeholders about the gaps and needs, (ii) support resource mobilization efforts, and (iii) maximize opportunities for WHO and partners to rapidly respond to country needs in an agile manner.

¹ https://www.who.int/initiatives/act-accelerator

The meeting with ministerial participants from the national public health laboratories and regulatory agencies as well as international partners discussed the challenges, and shared key innovations and lessons learned to strengthen their national laboratory responses. The meeting was facilitated by Professor Stuart Blacksell of the Mahidol Oxford Tropical Medicine Research Unit.

1. Opening address

The WHO Regional Director for South-East Asia, Dr Poonam Khetrapal Singh, reiterated the need for strengthening laboratory capacity as a "core priority" within the overall COVID-19 response in the midst of ongoing waves of transmission and the emergence and spread of new variants of concern. She also stated that in all countries of the Region, dynamic testing strategies continue to be implemented based on the changing landscape of transmission, and in alignment with the 10 pillars of WHO's Strategic Preparedness and Response Plan 2021.

Dr Emma Hannay, Chief Access Officer, Foundation of New and Innovative Diagnostics (FIND), highlighted the growing gap in vaccine rollout, and the need to use the existing toolkits to stop the pandemic, of which laboratory testing is a part. She also highlighted the 90-fold difference in testing between high and low- and middle-income countries, and the need for the ACT-Accelerator diagnostics pillar to refine its strategy based on regular engagement with countries and discussions on their needs.

2. Regional survey

Preparatory events for the regional roundtable included an online survey to gather information on current challenges in scaling up testing, and the expectations of Member States from the international community that could benefit the national responses. The questionnaire (see Annexure 1) included areas pertaining to national testing strategies, strategies and challenges in diagnostic response including scaling up of human resources, utilization of other sectors (private, academia, universities etc.), laboratory communication plans, local manufacturing capacity and expectations from the international community to augment the scaling up of testing capacity.

Nominees for the meeting from the relevant ministries of Member States of the Region were invited to complete the survey through the Microsoft Office online survey tool. Having received 18 responses, limitations existed in attributing the outcomes to any country in the Region as the participants were anonymized. Thus, the overall outcomes collectively reflect the responses from the Region.

3. Country experiences and requests

3.1 Nepal

Dr Runa Jah, Director of the National Public Health Laboratory, Kathmandu, described the efforts by Nepal to expand testing laboratories from one national testing laboratory in 2020 to 105 laboratories (96 PCR and 9 GeneXpert) in 2021. The network of laboratories includes both public, veterinary and private sector laboratories. While the acceptance of antigen rapid diagnostic tests (Ag RDTs) was slow by both the government and community health workers, it is being rolled out at the community level. However, PCR remains the main diagnostic platform. The laboratory network design incorporates different use of technologies at various levels; PCR tests are conducted at the national and peripheral laboratories while antigen rapid diagnostic tests (AgRDTs) are used at the community level for contact tracing.

The challenges faced during the stepwise scale-up activity included lack of a skilled workforce, limited biosafety and biosecurity capacities, limited sample transportation logistics due to the travel restrictions, and limited infrastructure. Some of the interventions used to address the challenges included using the Nepalese Army to courier samples across the country, providing training to an increased workforce and developing a national policy that ensured all laboratories were coordinated under a single structure – the national public health laboratory. The national guidance also covered the establishment of new testing facilities including criteria for infrastructure requirements, workflow processes, biosafety and biosecurity. Assessments were conducted before approving facilities to commence molecular testing. A national quality assurance programme was also developed to monitor testing quality across the network.

To increase the availability of human resources (HR) capacity, a week-long training programme was designed to build capacities for molecular testing for 400 persons with varying levels of qualification and experience. These participants were included in a roster to deploy to new laboratories due to the shortage of HR. Training modules included sample collection and sample processing, Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) donning and doffing, waste management, biosafety, and sample testing. The training was adapted to the level of knowledge of participants with students with a Masters level of education receiving training in all modules.

Developing a Trainer-of-Trainer's programme also helped scale up training when the National Public Health Laboratory (NPHL) was overwhelmed with testing. Training modalities included face-to-face and virtual sessions. Weekly meetings were held within the network to address technical issues arising due to testing.

Within the umbrella network of public and private laboratories, all data reporting was also coordinated through the NPHL under a single reporting structure which allowed the NPHL to have information on HR, availability of equipment and reagents, and perform oversight on quality control. Frequent supervisory visits including onsite mentoring were conducted throughout the network.

The challenges currently facing Nepal include support to implement genomic sequencing including establishing bioinformatics capacity. Guidance for the use of various

diagnostic tools such as LAMP and CRISPR was also needed from WHO. It was highlighted that low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) with limited capacities for molecular testing require new diagnostic tools with ease of training and that allows for the monitoring of quality control.

3.2 India

Dr Ravikant Sharma from the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (MoHFW) of India provided information on how India supported the expansion of the local manufacturing capacities for diagnostic products. The national regulatory authority worked in collaboration with the Indian Council of Medical Research, which provides standardized protocols for test validations.

Through the regulatory body, manufacturers were provided information required for target product profiles. To date, India has 60 manufacturers producing molecular diagnostic kits, more than 34 manufacturers producing Ag RDTs, more than 50 manufacturers producing antibody test kits, and three manufacturers of home-based testing equipment. In addition, there are over 147 registered importers for diagnostic products. All kits and reagents in India are regulated through the Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR).

Test manufacturers are provided with a licence after an assessment of facilities and processes to ensure good quality practices and ISO standards are adhered to. Post-marketing surveillance is also implemented and products removed and licensing revoked when products fail to perform at the field level. Apart from the regulatory processes and quality monitoring, a procurement system was put in place under the coordination of ICMR to ensure that kits were procured and distributed to the thousands of testing sites in hospitals and laboratories.

The challenges faced by India included monitoring the performance of the kits in wide use throughout the country. Another limitation included allowing new technologies into the country for faster testing and reporting of results. The Indian Government has allowed kits approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and other developed nations to be marketed. A key felt need is for training to monitor effective quality assurance of tests by laboratories.

3.3 Maldives

Dr Ibrahim Afzal, Epidemiologist with the Health Protection Agency of Maldives, made the presentation for the country. The biggest need for Maldives was training to increase the availability of skilled workforce for PCR testing, genomic sequencing and bioinformatics. The lack of laboratory networking in the country to connect national and private laboratories was also described as a challenge. Funding was highlighted as a concern to maintain the capacities built during the pandemic, as well as the lack of a BSL3 laboratory and virus isolation capacities. Lack of experienced human resource capacity was also noted.

3.4 Timor-Leste

At the start of the pandemic, Timor-Leste had no capacity for PCR testing but this has been rapidly expanded and today the country can perform between 1200 and 1500 tests per day using the GeneXpert platforms. Ms Endang, Executive Director of the National Health Laboratory (NHL), described the ToT programme established to train staff and expand PCR testing to eight municipalities. The training included sample collection, packing and transportation, waste management, and pre- and post-analytical testing. The online Gx alert system is also in use and allows the NHL to monitor testing and data quality across the testing laboratories.

The use of Ag RDTs has recently been approved and will be used to test symptomatic persons and health-care workers. Due to the high health-care worker infection rate HR capacity is limited within community health centres, and through prioritized and frequent testing it is expected to maintain service delivery.

3.5 Indonesia

Dr Vivi Setiawaty, Director for Research and Development for Biomedical and Basic Health Technology, highlighted the efforts by Indonesia to expand testing to 830 laboratories in 34 provinces across the archipelago. Testing is done through RT-PCR and GeneXpert platforms. An integrated reporting system was implemented where all data is reported to the national level on a single data reporting platform. Reagents and consumables are provided by the government for public health testing only and not for commercial use.

A genomic sequencing network has also been established. A monitoring and supply distribution system was also put in place as it takes up to 2–3 days to ship supplies to remote regions of the country. The major challenge faced by the country was Internet connectivity for reporting of daily results.

3.6 Thailand

Dr Wanna Hanshaoworakul, Department of Disease Control, Royal Government of Thailand, explained that the National Institute of Health in Thailand provides genomic sequencing for the public health response nationally as well as supporting countries in the Region. The network of laboratories has the capacity for next generation sequencing and molecular testing targeted for the detection of Delta and other variants of concern.

The network of laboratories for sequencing included medical schools with advanced capacities. The sampling strategy includes samples from large clusters, deaths and vaccine breakthrough cases. The challenges experienced include data management and delayed reporting. A request was made for a framework for data management, training and tools.

3.7 Bhutan

An example of leveraging the influenza surveillance data system for COVID-19 was provided by Dr Sonam Wangchuk, Head of the Royal Centre for Disease Control in Bhutan. A centralized web-based data system was used across all the testing laboratories and has also been adapted to generate QR codes for travel certificates. The centralized database integrated the civil registration data and citizen identification number, which allowed for easy importation of data and reporting of results. Bhutan also leveraged the national early warning system with the community when mass testing was in progress.

4. Concluding remarks

Dr Sebastien Cognat, Unit Head of Public Health Laboratory Strengthening in WHO headquarters, summarized the following key discussion points:

- Frequent adaptation is required of global guidance and recommendations to the local contexts.
- Greater capacity is needed to validate and regulate new diagnostic assays coming to the market.
- Greater effort is needed to support workforce development, data management, genomic sequencing and bioinformatics capacity.
- Advocacy and communication materials are needed to address testing hesitancy for Ag RDTs.

He also added that the roundtable discussion outcomes will be used to adjust and improve budgeting and workplans for WHO and ACT Accelerator partners to support the Region.

5. Recommendations for support

The discussions highlighted several key areas where additional support was required from the international community including:

- improving training methodology to rapidly scale up the workforce;
- > supporting local production and validation of diagnostic tools;
- strengthening supply chain systems within the national settings;
- improving data management systems;
- > providing support to implement genomic sequencing for SARS-CoV-2 variants;
- sustaining the expanded diagnostic capacities as well as the need to address the dynamics of the current wave and potential future pandemics.

The outcomes of the meeting have reiterated the need for ACT Accelerator partners to mobilize additional resources to ensure equitable access to COVID-19 diagnostic testing across the Region.

Annex 1

Results of the survey; (n = number of responses)

National testing strategies

About 94% of the responses (n = 17) indicated that the national testing strategies are available and adapted according to changes in the epidemiological situation, resources and tools, and towards country-specific contexts. One response (6%) mentioned that the strategy is currently under revision.

Antigen RDTs are currently used in the following settings (listed in descending order based on the number of responses):

- > for symptomatic suspect cases including contact tracing (n = 15);
- \blacktriangleright community screening (n = 9);
- > routine health worker screening (n = 9);
- \succ hospital settings (n = 8);
- > to confirm localized outbreaks (n = 7);
- > schools and workplaces (n = 5);
- > ports of entry (airports, seaports, land borders) (n=5); and
- \succ prisons (5).

Scaling up laboratory response (including workforce)

The participants were asked to quantify the challenges on a scale of 0 ("No challenge") to 5 ("Significantly highly challenged") across different areas of laboratory response as indicated in Table 1. Human resource and data management including HR has been flagged as significantly highly challenged (with over 15 responses indicating \geq 3 on the requested quantification scale).

Area/gaps in scale/number of responses	0	1	2	3	4	5
Human resource	0	1	2	6	5	4
Equipment	1	1	5	7	3	1
Data management including HR	0	1	1	4	6	6
Reagents and consumables	1	1	4	5	6	1
РРЕ	1	6	5	5	1	0
Funding	2	2	3	3	3	5
Validation and certification of diagnostic kits	2	1	5	4	6	0
Monitoring quality management	1	2	3	7	2	3
Biosafety measures	2	3	3	5	5	0
Leveraging national laboratory Networks	0	4	4	5	5	0
Sample transportation systems	1	5	2	8	1	0

Table 1. Challenges to scale the national laboratory response

0 = "No challenge" & 5 = "Significantly highly challenged"

Colour codes - -

 \geq 2 responses have been indicated in respective colour codes

	2	≥2 r			
0	1	2	3	4	5

Scaling up the workforce: Specific challenges highlighted to rapid scaling up of the workforce as mentioned were the limited availability of trainers of trainers (n = 8), funding (n = 5), limited training materials (n = 1), policy-related challenges (n = 1), lack of in-country capacity (n = 1) fear and hesitancy among the workforce over laboratory-acquired infection of SARS-CoV-2 (n = 1) and mobilization of paramedical staff from other laboratories (n = 1). More virtual trainings (n = 9), hands-on training (n = 5), webinars (n = 4) and supportive supervision (n = 3) were identified to be the modalities of training that have contributed towards rapid development of a skilled workforce (across sample collection, transportation, testing and data management areas).

Leveraging other sectors (e.g. academia, animal health, etc.): This was considered to be a significant intervention to increase diagnostic testing capacity (72% positive responses), with 83% of respondents indicating the inclusion of private sector testing laboratories in the national response. However, implementing quality control and monitoring (n = 8), result reporting and data sharing (n = 5) and funding requirements to support testing (n = 1) were flagged as the critical challenges experienced while working with private sector laboratories.

Strategic Interventions: The following areas were observed to be optimized across national laboratory/disease networks to effectively address changing diagnostic demands; appropriate testing locations were identified (n = 13), Integrated data reporting systems were put in place (n = 12), leveraging of the workforce across disease networks and sectors was carried out (n = 11), as well as integrated specimen referral (n = 10), optimized network linkage referrals (n = 10), optimal mix of instruments (n = 9) and leveraged quality management systems (n = 9).

Diagnostic communication plan: About 35% of responses indicated the availability of a diagnostic communication plan to reduce misinformation and testing hesitancy, particularly in interpreting discordant results, and to improve knowledge and capacity for contact tracing. However, a large number of responses (53%) revealed that the respondents were not sure of the availability of the diagnostic communication plan and 12% indicated that it was not available.

Genomic surveillance: The following were the current gaps that challenge the implementation of genomic surveillance for variants:

- > reagents and consumables (n = 13)
- > human resources (n = 14)
- > funding (n = 11)
- \blacktriangleright bioinformatics support (n = 11)
- \succ equipment (n = 11)
- > training (n = 6)
- SOPS and protocols (n = 4).

Post-pandemic planning: Most of the participants (44%; n = 8) were not sure about the development of a post-pandemic plan for the utilization of laboratory capacities built during the pandemic (e.g. post-pandemic contingency planning, national laboratory policy, etc.). However, 39% (n = 7) indicated the availability or development of such plans.

Local manufacturing: Promoting or supporting local manufacturing of diagnostics has been observed to be significantly accommodated (indicated by 55% of the responses) in the national policy agenda, while 28% (n = 5) did not have relevant knowledge in this area. Not surprisingly, 72% expressed interest in learning more about promoting or supporting local manufacturing of diagnostics.

Expectations from the international community: The following were the key support mechanisms expected from the international community that could benefit the country's diagnostic capacity for SARS-CoV-2:

- funding, human resources and training;
- strengthening of sustainable genomic/gene sequencing and bioinformatic capacity;
- > funding/technical support for establishing more laboratories;
- strengthening laboratory networking: quick and easy technology transfer, exchange visits;
- > newer point-of-care testing platforms, multiplex kits;
- > minimum essential standards for COVID-19 Invitro diagnostics;
- sharing of regulatory approval data by NRAs (approved/not approved);

- > supporting local manufacturing of diagnostic reagents and consumables;
- > quality assurance and sharing of the standardized testing panels and samples;
- > information sharing, data analysis and disease modelling;
- > use of artificial intelligence in health care; and
- integrated data management systems.

Annex 2

Agenda

- Welcome remarks by Dr Jos Vandelaer, Regional Emergency Director, SEARO
- Inaugural address by Dr Poonam Khetrapal Singh, Regional Director, WHO South-East Asia Region
- Remarks by ACT-A diagnostics Co-leads (FIND)

Session 1:

- Meeting Objectives
- Presentation of the survey results (Mr Francis Inbanathan, SEARO)

Session 2:

- Facilitated discussions based on survey outcomes (HQ and Regional Office) Session 3:
- Summarizing key outcomes (HQ and Regional Office)

Closing remarks by Dr Jos Vandelaer

Annex 3

List of participants

SE Asia Region

Bangladesh

Dr Arifa Akram Asst Professor (Virology) NILMRC Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Email: drbarna43@gmail.com

Dr Manjur Hossain Khan Jony Assistant Professor (Virology) IEDCR DGHS Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Email khanmanjur56@gmail.com

Dr S.M. Sabrina Yesmin Assistant Director, DGDA Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Email: sabrinayesmin22@gmail.com

Bhutan

Dr Sonam Wangchuk Specialist III Royal Centre for Disease Control Ministry of Health Email: swangchuk@health.gov.bt

Dr Tshokey Senior Medical Officer Jigme Dorji Wangchuk National Referral Hospital, Thimphu Email: tshokey@jdwnrh.gov.bt

Mr Wangdi Gyeltshen Drug Controller Drug Regulatory Authority Email: wgyeltshen@dra.gov.bt

India

Mr Lav Aggarwal Joint Secretary Ministry of Health & Family Welfare Email: alav@ias.nic.in

Dr Ravikant Sharma Deputy Drugs Controller Ministry of Health & Family Welfare Email: ddcirks@gmail.com Mr Sella Senthil Assistant Drugs Controller Ministry of Health & Family Welfare Email: senthilcdsco@gmail.com

Dr Varsha Potdar Scientist 'D', ICMR – National Institute of Virology, Pune Ministry of Health & Family Welfare Email: potdarvarsha9@gmail.com

Indonesia

Dr Vivi Setiawaty Director for Research and Development of Biomedical and Basic Health Technology Ministry of Health Email: vilitbang@yahoo.com

Dr Nelly Puspandari, SpMK Sub-Coordinator for Biomedical Communicable Diseases Centre for Research and Development of Biomedical ad Basic Health Technology Ministry of Health Email: tukapusbtdk@gmail.com nelly.puspa@gmail.com

Dr Subangkit, M. Biomed Technical Manager for Virology Coordinator for Testing National Network Laboratory Ministry of Health Email : tukapusbtdk@gmail.com; bangkit 27@yahoo.com

Maldives

Dr Ibrahim Afzal Epidemiologist Health Protection Agency Ministry of Health Email: afzal@health.gov.mv

Mohamed Fazeen Director, Pharmaceuticals Food and Drugs Authority Email: fazeen@health.gov.mv

Mr Abdul Raheem Adam Director, Quality Assurance Division Ministry of Health Email: adhurey@health.gov.mv Virtual annual meeting on progress review of implementation of pandemic influenza preparedness partnership contribution funds in priority countries in the WHO South-East Asia Region

Nepal

Dr Runa Jha Director National Public Health Laboratory Email: Runa75jha@gmail.com

Dr Samir Kumar Adhikari Senior Health Administrator Health Emergency Operating Centre Ministry of Health and Population Email: adhikarispk@gmail.com

Mr Santosh KC Senior Drug Administrator, Department of Drug Administrationl Email: phrskc@gmail.com

Sri Lanka

Dr GSK Dharmaratne Deputy Director General (Laboratory Services) Ministry of Health Email: sudathchamith@gmail.com

Dr Ananda Wijewickrama Consultant community Physician National Institute of Infectious Diseases NMRA Board Member Email: anandawijewickrama012@gmail.com

Dr Nadeeka Janage Consultant Virologist Medical Research Institute Email: jsnadeeka@yahoo.com

Thailand

Dr Wanna Hanshaoworakul Medical Officer, Advisory Level Department of Disease Control Ministry of Public Health Email: loah12@outlook.com

Dr Pilailuk Akkapaiboon Okada Medical Technologist Senior Professional Level National Institute of Health Department of Medical Sciences Ministry of Public Health Email: pilailuk.o@dmsc.mail.go.th

Mr Athiwat Primsirikunawut Medical Scientist Senior Professional Level National Institute of Health Department of Medical Sciences Ministry of Public Health Email: athiwat.p@dmsc.mail.go.th

Ms Sirinmas Katchamart Pharmacist Senior Professional Level Medical Device Control Division Food and Drug Administration Ministry of Public Health Email: Katchams@gmail.com

Timor-Leste

Mr Teodoro Marcal de Jesus Head of Department for Introduction and Marketing Authorization (AIM) Ministry of Health Email: daim010920@gmail.com

SEA Region country offices

Dr Tanbirul Islam NPO (EPI) WHO Country Office for Bangladesh Email: islammdt@who.int

Mr Ahmed Hasan Mohiuddin NPO (Surveillance & Public Health Informatics) WHO Country Office for Bangladesh Email: ahmedha@who.int

Dr Kencho Wangdi National Professional Officer (Health Emergencies) WHO Country Office for Bhutan Email: wangdik@who.int

Ms Anupurba Roy Chowdhury Technical officer (Lab Specialist) WHO Country Office for DPR Korea Email: roya@who.int

Dr Endang Wulandari NPO (Epidemiology) WHO Country Office for Indonesia Email: wulandarie@who.int

Ms Tina Kusumaningrum NPO (Laboratory) WHO Country Office for Indonesia Email: kusumaningrumt@who.int

Nurhayati Hamim Kawi IMT COVID-19 Laboratory WHO Country Office for Indonesia Email: kawin@who.int

Dr Faiha Ibrahim NPO WHO Country Office for Maldives Email: ibrahimf@who.int

Dr Arunkumar Govindakarnavar Technical Officer (Public Health Laboratory) WHO Country Office for Nepal Email: govindakarnavara@who.int

Mr Ismael da Costa Salvador Barreto NPO (Health System Strengthening and COVID-19 Response) WHO Country Office for Timor-Leste Email: ida@who.int Regional Roundtable meeting on 'Access to COVID-19 Tools-Accelerator (ACT-A) diagnostics pillar' in the WHO South-East Asia Region

Dr Zar Zar Naing National Professional Officer (AMR) WHO Country Office for Myanmar Email: znaing@who.int

Dr Mya Yee Mon National Professional Officer (DSE) WHO Country Office for Myanmar yeemonm@who.int

Dr Sushil Pant Medical Officer (TB) WHO Country Office for Myanmar pants@who.int

Dr Badri Thapa Scientist Malaria WHO Country Office for Myanmar email: THAPAB@who.int

WHO HQ

Dr Sebastien Bruno Francois Cognat Unit Head WPE/CRS/PHL Email: cognats@who.int

SEARO

Dr Jos Vandelear Regional Emergency Director WHE SEARO Email: vandelaerjo@who.int

Dr Manoj Jhalani Director Department of Health Systems Development (HSD) Email: jhalanim@who.int

Dr Pushpa Wijeysinghe Programme Area Manager (IHM) WHE Email: wijesinghep@who.int

Dr Nilesh Buddh Programme Area Manager (EMO) WHE Email: buddhan@who.int

Dr Masaya Kato Programme Area Manager (CPI) WHE Email: katom@who.int

Dr Sirenda Vong Programme Area Manager (HIM) WHE Email: vongs@who.int

Dr Reuben Samuel Senior Health Emergency Officer WHE Email: samuelr@who.int Dr Dhamari Naidoo Public Health Laboratory Scientist WHE Email: naidood@who.int

Dr Manish Kakkar Technical Officer - High Threat Pathogen WHE Email: kakkarm@who.int

Dr Hyon chol Pak Technical Officer (Logistics) WHE Email: HPAK@who.int

Mr Francis Yesurajan Inbanathan Technical Officer - Laboratory WHE Email: inbanathanf@who.int

Dr Adrien Inoubli Regional Adviser (Medical Products Quality & Regulation) HSD Email: inoublia@who.int

Dr Manisha Shridhar Technical Officer (IPT) HSD Email: shridharm@who.int

Dr Maung Maung Htike Technical Officer for Capacity Development Email: htikem@who.int

Mr Tika Ram Sedai Data Management Officer, SE/RGO/WHE/HIM Email: sedait@who.int

Dr Anil Bhola RGO/WHE/CPI Email: anilb@who.int

Dr P.K. Amarnath Babu Consultant, WHE Email: babup@who.int

Dr John Prawira Technical Officer (EMT) Email: prawiraj@who.int

Dr Victor Del Rio Vilas Consultant Email: delriov@who.int

Dr Aarti Garg Technical Officer Email: garga@who.int

Dr Wagawatta Liyanage Sugandhika Padmini Perera Technical Officer Email: pereras@who.int Dr Sandip Shinde Consultant Email: sshinde@who.int

Sourabh Sinha Technical Officer Email: sinhaso@who.int

Ms Asha K.S. Executive Assistant, WHE IHM Email: ashak@who.int

Moderator

Professor Stuart Blacksell Professor of Tropical Microbiology Nuffield Department of Medicine University of Oxford and Mahidol Oxford-Tropical Medicine Research Unit Email: stuart@tropmedres.ac

Partners

Ms Karishma Seeran (FIND)

Ms Amy Toporowski (FIND)

Mr Alexandre Costa (UNICEF)

Mr Bright Kofi Sakyi (UNICEF)

The Access to COVID-19 Tools (ACT) Accelerator is a ground-breaking global collaboration to accelerate development, production and equitable access to COVID-19 tests, treatments and vaccines. Launched in April 2020, the ACT Accelerator brings together governments, scientists, businesses, civil society, philanthropists and global health organizations.

To better understand the challenges faced in scaling up testing required for rapidly interrupting transmission of the emerging variants of the SARS CoV-2 coronavirus, the WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia in collaboration with the ACT-Accelerator partners organized a regional roundtable with policy-makers, experts from national public health laboratories and the ministries of health, as well as international partners. This report describes the proceedings, outcomes and recommendations of the roundtable.



South-East Asian Region

